1981

The State of Utah v. Joey Williams : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

The appellant, JOEY M. WILLIAMS, appeals from a conviction of Robbery in the Third Judicial District Court, Salt Lake County, State of Utah.

DISPOSITION OF THE LOWER COURT

The appellant, JOEY M. WILLIAMS, was found guilty of Robbery, a Second Degree Felony, by a jury. The trial was conducted September 4th, 8th, and 9th, 1980, with the Honorable Homer F. Wilkinson, presiding. Appellant was sentenced on September 9, 1980, to serve an indeterminate term of not less than one year nor more than fifteen years at the Utah State Prison.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks a reversal of his conviction and a new trial.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Holiday Oil Company service station at 3847 South Redwood Road, in Salt Lake County, was robbed during the evening of November 24, 1979. Mike Weaver committed the crime pursuant to a plan designed by the Salt Lake County Sheriff's Department to charge Weaver's accomplice, Joey Williams, with a criminal offense. This plan required Weaver to drive straight through a specified intersection if the robbery had occurred as planned or to make a turn at the intersection if the robbery had not taken place. (T. 20, 100, 106). In accordance with the plan, Weaver drove straight through the intersection after the robbery occurred and the vehicle was stopped by two sheriff's deputies. (T. 28, 107). Both occupants fled; Weaver was allowed to escape while Joey Williams, the defendant, was apprehended. (T. 28, 108).

The robbery plan was devised after Weaver was apprehended for shoplifting at the ZCMI store in Cottonwood Mall. Upon questioning in connection with the shoplifting charge Weaver said he would cooperate with law enforcement officials with regard to a robbery scheduled for that night. (T. 52, 96). Weaver was taken to the Holiday Sheriff's substation where several members of the Sheriff's Department collaborated with Weaver to formulate a plan for the robbery. Weaver called Joey Williams while at the substation and that conversation was recorded. (T. 17, 97). The transcript of that tape was introduced into evidence at the trial. (T. 101).

During both the prosecutor's opening remarks (T.7) and the testimony of Mr. Weaver (T.34), reference was made to an allegedly false statement secured from Mr. Weaver while he was in prison. These assertions, made in the presence of the jury, either directly or indirectly implied that counsel for the defense was instrumental in securing the perjurious statements. (T. 7, 34). The court denied two motions for mistrial (T. 41, 118) based upon these statements. The defense had given no indication that it intended to use these statements from Weaver.

As a result of the attack on defense counsel by the prosecution, counsel moved to withdraw from the case. (T. 125). Defense counsel believed it would be necessary for him to testify about how the statements from Weaver were obtained. The court denied defense counsel's motion even though his continued representation of the defendant would be prejudicial to him because counsel's credibility had been attacked. A further attempt to clarify the relationship between Weaver and defense counsel was foreclosed when the court required that the defense make a motion to call the prosecutor as a material witness (T. 130) and then denied the motion. (T. 131).

James Miller, an inmate at the Utah State Penitentiary, was called as a witness for the defense to establish that Weaver had cause to fear the members of the prison population. (T. 220). Miller acknowledged that he had been convicted of a felony and was presently serving time in prison, however, the purpose of his testimony was to show that Weaver was generally disliked at the

prison. The prosecutor, on cross examination, inquired into the nature and the details of Mr. Miller's past criminal activity. (T. 222-223). Defense counsel objected to this line of inquiry, however the objection was overruled. (T. 222-223).

During closing arguments the prosecutor improperly invited the jurors to consider what might have happened had the victim of the robbery been injured. This argument was allowed by the court. (Closing Argument, T.4) The prosecutor rebutted an argument by defense counsel that Weaver had a motive to lie by pointing out that Weaver had a two year sentence to serve. Less than one month later, Weaver was granted parole after the prosecutor personally appeared before the Board of Pardons and urged his early parole. (Board of Pardons, T. 5-7). The prosecutor asserted that Weaver's conduct during the trial had been so exemplary that he had decided to use his efforts to get Weaver out of prison. (Board of Pardons, T. 5-7).

POINT I

THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING DEFENSE COUNSEL'S MOTION FOR A MISTRIAL WHEN THE PROSECUTOR INTRODUCED TESTIMONY CONCERNING THE IMPEACHMENT OF THE STATE'S CHIEF WITNESS BEFORE THE DEFENSE HAD EVER SOUGHT TO IMPEACH THE WITNESS.

During his opening statement the prosecutor informed the jury that the defense possessed a statement made by Michael Weaver that was inconsistent with what his trial testimony would be. Defense counsel objected to the reference because the alleged statement had not been introduced into evidence, nor had Michael Weaver's cred-

ibility been attacked. The appellant asserts that the court erred in overruling his timely objection.

It is well settled that the purpose of an opening statement in a jury trial is limited to a brief statement of the issues and an outline of what counsel believes he can support with the admissible evidence. A.B.A. Standards, The Prosecution Function and The Defense Function, 119 (1971). The opening statement may not refer to particular evidence". . . unless there is a good faith and reasonable basis for believing that such evidence will be tendered and admitted into evidence." A.B.A. Standards, Prosecution and Defense Function, §3-5.5 (2nd Ed. 1979).

In the present case the prosecutor, in his opening statement, referred to a statement that was allegedly in the possession of defense counsel.

The prosecutor told the jury that:

[Michael Weaver] was, at one point in time, coerced into signing a statement which would indicate that Mr. Williams was not involved in a crime. Bear in mind that he did that under duress and coercion at the time because of the circumstances he was in. He will testify to the fact that he did sign this particular statement. This statement at the present time is in custody of the defense counsel. (T. 7)

The prosecutor had no power over the introduction of the statement, and indeed, did not have any knowledge that the statement would be introduced into evidence. Thus, his reference to the statement was clearly improper.

The Supreme Court of Vermont recently held that the trial court had erred by allowing the prosecution to make references to prior consistent statements of the principal prosecution witness in its opening statement. Woodmansee v. Stoneman, 344 A.2d 26 (Vt. 1975). In that case the defendant was charged with assisting someone to avoid arrest and punishment for the crime of murder. The principal witness against the defendant had made several different statements during the investigation of the case. These statements were outlined in the prosecution's opening statement and were admitted during the prosecution's case. The prosecution argued that the statements should be admitted to rehabilitate a witness who had been impeached by a previous showing of "bias, interest or corruption." Id. at 30. The court stated:

The impeachment referred to, or the claim of recent continuance, can hardly be said to have transpired when the state made its opening argument. . . [t]he asserted purpose could not be a grounds for admissibility when [defense counsel] had not yet even been heard, much less introduced evidence.

Id. at 30-31.

The Wisconsin Supreme Court faced a similar situation in Baker v. State, 69 Wis. 32, 33 N.W. 52, (1887). In that case the court said:

In opening the case [the prosecutor] stated, in effect, that the accused would introduce testimony touching the character of the complainant, and as to what he tried to prove upon the former trial; but upon objection being made, the court promptly ruled that he must confine himself to stating to the jury the

cause of the prosecution, but that he must not state the cause of the accused to the jury.

Id. at 56.

Courts recognize that the purpose of the opening statement is to orient the jury, so that they have a framework within which to analyze the evidence. In the present case the prosecution laid out this framework, then went further and told the jury of evidence he thought the defense would present. The prosecution was, in effect, anticipating the defense and attempting to defuse it at the start. This was clearly an improper argument which prejudiced the appellant by attacking the integrity of the defense counsel. The magnitude of the mischief occasioned by the prosecutor's character assassination of defense counsel is not easily palpable. However, the tip of the iceberg is at least recognizable when one considers that the purpose and effect of the prosecutor's broadside was to cast the defense counsel as an unscrupulous rogue wholly underserving of belief. Thus, as a result of the prosecutor's opening statement, before a shread of admissible evidence was before the jury, the appellant found himself beginning his trial with a lawyer which the prosecutor had painted as the picture of perfidy.

POINT II

DEFENSE COUNSEL SHOULD HAVE BEEN ALLOWED TO WITHDRAW FROM THE CASE.

- (A) The court erred in denying defense counsel's motion to withdraw as counsel when he notified the court that it would be necessary for him to testify on behalf of the defendant.

The American Bar Association (A.B.A.) Code of Professional Ethics provides:

DR 5-102 Withdrawal as counsel when the lawyer becomes a witness.

(A) If, after undertaking employment in contemplated or pending litigation, a lawyer learns or it is obvious that he or a lawyer in his firm ought to be called as a witness on behalf of his client, he shall withdraw from the conduct of the trial and his firm, if any, shall not continue representation in the trial. . . ."

This rule is subject to certain exceptions not applicable in the present case.

The A.B. A. committee set out the reasoning behind the rules under Canon 5 in the ethical considerations. In EC 5-9 they state:

Occasionally a lawyer is called upon to decide in a particular case whether he will be a witness or an advocate. If a lawyer is both counsel and witness, he becomes more easily impeachable for interest and thus may be a less effective witness. Conversely, the opposing counsel may be handicapped in challenging the credibility of the lawyer when the lawyer also appears as an advocate in the case. An advocate who becomes a witness is in the unseemly and ineffective position of arguing his own credibility. The roles of an advocate and of a witness are inconsistent; the function of an advocate is to advance or argue the cause of another, while that of a witness is to state facts objectively.

Ethical Consideration 5-10 provides in part:

. . . where the question [of a lawyer becoming a witness] arises, doubts should be resolved in favor of the lawyer testifying and against his becoming or continuing as an advocate.

In the present case the prosecutor, in his opening statement stated that his principal witness, Weaver, was coerced by the defendant.

into signing a statement inconsistent with what his trial testimony would be. He intimated that defense counsel had somehow played a role in obtaining this statement. (T.7) During the direct examination of Weaver the prosecutor's questions implied that defense counsel had approached Weaver and coerced him into signing a statement favorable to the appellant. (T.34) At this point defense counsel made a motion for a mistrial and a motion to withdraw from the case.¹ Defense counsel felt it would be in the best interests of his client for him to testify in order to rebut the prosecutor's insinuations. Counsel proposed to testify about the circumstances

¹Defense counsel endeavored to explain his motion in light of the aforementioned Disciplinary Rule and Ethical Considerations, but was met with some resistance from the court. Some time later, the court evidently realized the relevance of the rule, and then referred to it.

MR. BUGDEN: EC 5-10 states--

THE COURT: Mr. Bugden, we are not going to read all the canons of ethics here today.

MR. BUGDEN: Well, the next canon is^o directly in point. It specifically says if there is any questions as to whether or not the lawyer should act as a lawyer or be a witness, all of those questions have to be resolved in allowing the lawyer to be a witness.

In this case I have to be a witness to rebut the insinuation of the prosecutor and Mr. Christensen has to be a witness to rebut that.

THE COURT: Mr. Bugden, just refer to the canon and don't take time to read it. (T.124)

* * *

THE COURT: And are you going to call yourself as a witness?

MR. BUGDEN: I haven't made that decision.

THE COURT: Then it is my understanding as I remember some- in the ethics that states if counsel takes the stand as a witness in the case he cannot proceed and argue the case. (T.134)

surrounding the receipt of Weaver's statements.² Defense counsel also moved to call the prosecutor as a witness in order to show that he had been aware of the fact that Weaver had approached defense counsel wishing to help with the defense.³ These motions were denied by the court.

²MR. BUGDEN: At this time, Your Honor, I would also make a motion to withdraw from the case. I feel that after the remarks that Mr. Christensen had made in the record for his honor, my state of mind is such that I truly am upset and I am now presented with cross-examining a witness who I am accused of [intimidating]. I am also accused of coercing his testimony or tampering with his testimony. Of course, Mr. Christensen has made the same insinuation to this Court. Obviously, this is the most important witness for the case. The defense will not be able to cross-examine this witness effectively. I would certainly be less than candid if I did not state for the record that I do not feel that I am in a position now that I can go forward and vigorously cross-examine this witness. I truly am upset. I am shocked that Mr. Christensen would make the accusation that he had about I don't believe that I can adequately and competently completely defend Mr. Williams' interests at this time (T. 44).

³Mr. Christensen was aware that Weaver solicited the defense attorney first, not the defense attorney solicited Weaver first. Yet he in opening statement insinuated to the jury that I engaged in improper conduct by sending my investigators out to the prison to obtain a statement. And that is false. And the only way that can be rebutted is if Mr. Christensen himself testifies in this case, and he must testify in this case. (T. 123).

Defense counsel should have been allowed to withdraw from the case and testify on behalf of the defendant. The general rule is that an attorney is competent to testify on behalf of his client. Am. Jur. Witnesses §152. In State v. Blake, 157 Conn. 99, 249 A.2d 232 (1968), the defense counsel asked to withdraw so that he could testify as to a conversation he had with a prosecution witness prior to trial. The Connecticut Supreme Court said:

[T]he Canons of Professional Ethics [do] not disqualify or render incompetent as a witness, an attorney who has participated in a trial; it is error to refuse to permit him to offer himself as a witness. [Citations Omitted].
Id. at 234.

Similarly, where defense counsel in the present case asked to withdraw so that he could testify as to the circumstances surrounding obtaining Weaver's statement, such motion should not have been refused.

In People v. Kuczynski, 23 Ill. 2d 320, 178 N.E. 2d 294 (1961), the court reversed the defendant's conviction of armed robbery where the trial court had refused to allow defense counsel to withdraw and testify. At defendant's preliminary hearing a prosecution witness had been unable to identify the defendant, however at trial the witness testified that he had identified the defendant at the preliminary hearing. The Illinois court stated:

As it is apparent that Schewe's testimony surprised defendant, the trial judge should have allowed defendant's attorney to testify. . ." Id. at 295.

Although the Utah Supreme Court has never spoken directly to this issue, they have accepted the theory underlying Canon 5 of the A. B. A. Code of Professional Ethics. In Galarowicz v. Ward,

230 P.2d 576 (Utah 1951), defense counsel called as a witness his co-counsel. Although co-counsel had participated in the trial, his role had been limited. Plaintiff's counsel objected to defense counsel being allowed to testify without withdrawing and the court overruled this objection. The court noted that the purpose of the rule:

" . . . is to avoid putting a lawyer in the obviously embarrassing predicament of testifying and then having to argue the credibility and effect of his own testimony. Id. at 580.

The court went on to note that the plaintiff's counsel was attempting to use the rule to disqualify competent counsel from continuing the trial, and that the rule could not be used for such a purpose.

In the present case it was error to deny defense counsel's motion to withdraw so that he could testify on behalf of his client. Defense counsel was surprised by the accusations of the prosecutor and the testimony of Weaver and believed it essential to testify to rebut the prosecutor's innuendoes. In order to testify as a witness defense counsel desired to withdraw so that he would not have to argue his credibility and testimony to the jury. The court erred in overruling defense counsel's motion to withdraw.

(B) Defense counsel should have been allowed to withdraw where his credibility had been attacked by the prosecutor.

The trial judge refused defense counsel's motion to withdraw in the face of an attack on his integrity and credibility by the prosecutor. The Supreme Court, in Berger v. United States, 295 U.S. 78, 88 (1935) stated:

The United States Attorney is the representative not of an ordinary party to a controversy, but of a sovereignty whose obligation to govern impartially is as compelling as its obligation to govern at all; and whose interest, therefore, in a criminal prosecution is not that it shall win a case, but that justice shall be done. As such, he is in a peculiar and very definite sense the servant of the law, the twofold aim of which is that guilt shall not escape or innocence suffer. He may prosecute with earnestness and vigor—indeed, he should do so. But, while he may strike hard blows, he is not at liberty to strike foul ones. It is as much his duty to refrain from improper methods calculated to produce a wrongful conviction as it is to use every legitimate means to bring about a just one.

In the present case the prosecutor struck foul blows. He implied that defense counsel had been instrumental in obtaining perjurious statements from a prosecution witness in order to aid his client. This assertion was calculated to influence the jury improperly. Accordingly, the trial court erred by not permitting defense counsel to withdraw.

Although the Utah Court has never dealt with the issue of a prosecutor's misconduct in attacking defense counsel, several other courts have addressed it. In Watkins v. State, 140 Tenn. 1, 203 S.W. 344 (1917), the Tennessee Supreme Court established the standard of conduct for a district attorney general:

Imputation of dishonesty to adversary counsel in remarks addressed to them by the district attorney touching their conduct of the defense was an impropriety so gross that it must now appear to be such to the official who gave the words utterance. . . It was error not to sustain objection when interposed. Id. at 346.

This standard was reiterated and followed in Dupree v. State, 410

S.W. 2d 890 (Tenn. 1967). When the facts of the present case are analyzed in light of this standard, it is clear that the prosecu- attack on the integrity and credibility of defense counsel was improper.

The Tenth Circuit Court recently examined the issue of prosecutorial misconduct in United States v. Jones, 578 F.2d 1331 (10th Cir. 1978). The court first noted that in general it is "improper for the district attorney to imply that defense counsel has been involved in subornation of perjury. . ." [Citations omitted] Id. at 1338. The court went on to hold, however, that where defense counsel had introduced and emphasized testimony that implicated him in an attempt to obtain a perjurious statement the jury verdict would not be reversed.

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