1981

The State of Utah v. Joey Williams : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

Appellant assails comments made by the prosecutor to the effect that the witness Weaver still had two years to serve on a previous conviction. The comment was an attempt to buttress the credibility of the witness' testimony as being testimony against his own interests. This remark was appropriate in the particular circumstances of the case since the appellant had vehemently attacked the witness' credibility during cross examination, direct examination, and during closing arguments. The propriety of this remark, which was never objected to at trial, is further supported by an examination of defense counsel's closing argument to the jury.

Mr. Bugden: Well, just how much time is Weaver doing? Mr. Christensen doesn't remind you when he says that he is doing his time that all he is doing is time for one Class A Misdemeanor. And what was he charged with? He was charged with possessing a firearm, punishable by one to fifteen years in the prison. He was charged with possession, or theft by receiving, punishable by one to fifteen years in prison. But he is pleading guilty to a Class A Misdemeanor, punishable by twelve months.

Well, maybe he is doing some time, but hasn't he gotten a pretty good deal? He is not going to be charged with the robbery that he did. He is getting two felonies dismissed and he is only going to do twelve months.

Don't do the crime unless you can do the time. Weaver is not doing the time. He got a great deal.

(T. 18). The above passage is only one of many similar passages in which defense counsel attacked the credibility of

Mr. Weaver. However, this particular passage is especially illuminating when compared with the appellant's assertions on appeal. The remark assailed by the appellant is found in the prosecutor's rebuttal to the closing arguments of defense counsel. Since the above-quoted passage is contained in defense counsel's closing arguments, it can appropriately be said that defense counsel "opened the door" to the prosecutor's subsequent remark. Where remarks by defense counsel have "opened the door" or invited the remarks of the prosecutor, the comments of the prosecutor are not improper. This Court, in State v. Boone, Utah, 581 P.2d 571 (1978), acknowledged the validity of such a rule when it refused to find reversible error in the remarks of the prosecutor concerning the defendant's failure to testify. The Court held that the remarks were prompted by the comments of defense counsel and merely emphasized one of the reasons suggested by defense counsel for the defendant's failure to testify. 581 P.2d at 574. Similarly, the Arizona Supreme Court, in the case of State v. Hannon, 451 P.2d 602 (Ariz. 1969), held that "The prosecutor was entitled to discuss the credibility of the state's witnesses since the issue had been repeatedly raised by defense counsel." 451 P.2d at 604.

In the present case, any comment by the prosecutor concerning the credibility of Weaver and the length of his

remaining prison terms was a valid issue open to comment. Defense counsel had raised the specific issue previous to the remarks of the prosecutor, thereby foreclosing any complaint of impropriety on appeal. This, and the fact that no contemporaneous objection was interposed at the time of the comment, absolutely waive the issue for consideration on appeal. State v. White, Utah, 577 P.2d 552, 555 (1978). Moreover, testimony at trial by numerous witnesses both for the State and for the defense had established that Weaver was not liked at the prison and was the object of physical assaults and threats because of his cooperation with the police.

The appellant further asserts that because this comment was made and Weaver has not in fact served two more years in prison, the prosecutor purposely, and in bad faith, misled the jurors to attach more credibility of Weaver's testimony than they ordinarily would have absent the comment. The appellant further asserts that at the time of the closing argument, the prosecutor either knew or strongly suspected he would do everything he could to prevent Weaver from serving more time at the prison. A careful examination of the trial record demonstrates the appellant's assertion to be groundless. During the cross examination of Weaver on the first day of trial, the following colloquy was recorded:

By Mr. Bugden: Q: You indicated that there is presently a commitment for you that results in your being placed in the Utah State Prison, is that right?

By Mr. Weaver: A: Yes.

Q: What was that for?

A: Possession of a handgun and theft by receiving.

Q: Now, those charges are still pending against you?

A: Yes.

Q: Theft by receiving?

A: Yes.

Q: And that is a second-degree felony?

A: Yes.

Q: You are also presently charged with possession of a firearm?

A: Yes.

. . .

By Mr. Bugden: Q: Now, you've entered a plea negotiation with the State; is that correct?

By Mr. Weaver: A: Yes.

Q: You understand that in return for your testimony, you are being given the opportunity to have charges dismissed against you; is that correct?

A: Just to be reduced.

Q: Well, if I understand what Mr. Christensen has said, you are going to plead guilty to one crime, Class A Misdemeanor?

A: Yes.

(T. at 48-49). The above colloquy demonstrates that at the time of the trial, including the closing argument, the only arrangements made by way of plea negotiations for Weaver's testimony were that he would plead guilty to one Class A Misdemeanor instead of being charged and tried for three felonies. See also T. 36,37. In the face of this direct contradiction to the appellant's assertion, he offers no more than speculation and conjecture about the prosecutor's intention. Such conjecture cannot form the basis of an issue cognizable on appeal. There simply is no evidence that the prosecutor intended to testify at the parole revocation hearing at the time the questioned remark was made during closing arguments.

Moreover, even if the prosecutor at the time of his closing argument intended to appear before the Board of Pardons and speak in Weaver's behalf, the prosecutor had no way of actually securing Weaver's release. Utah Code Annotated, Section 77-62-3 provides in pertinent part that:

(a) It shall be the duty of the board of pardons to determine by majority decision, when and under what conditions, subject to the provisions of this act, persons now or hereafter serving sentences, in all cases except treason or impeachments, in the penal or correctional institutions of this state, may be released upon parole, pardoned, or may have their fines or forfeitures

remitted, or their sentences commuted or terminated; provided, no fine or forfeiture shall be remitted, no parole or pardon granted, or commutation or sentence terminated, except after a full hearing before said board. . . .

Under this statute, the Board of Pardons has exclusive jurisdiction to grant sentence terminations, and such terminations may be granted only after a hearing has been held before the Board. In the present case, the testimony of the prosecutor before the Board can be viewed as nothing more than a recommendation. Such recommendations are by no means binding on the Board. In this situation, the appellant is hard-pressed to suggest that the Board decided in favor of parole solely on the prosecutor's recommendation. Even if the Board's decision rested on the prosecutor's recommendation alone, the appellant would still be required to show that the prosecutor knew parole would be granted at the time of his argument. Such a showing is only a minimum requirement in proving the appellant's assertion. This requirement is not conceded to be the only demonstration element of an alleged improper argument or prejudicial comment. Rather, the appellant would be required to show much more before he could prevail. However, not even the minimum requirement has been met in this case.

Furthermore, this issue raised by the appellant is not appropriately before this Court. The practice of designating the record of proceedings occurring after the trial and conviction, having nothing to do with the appellant, is at best of questionable propriety. However, even if the record of witness Weaver's parole revocation hearing was appropriately before this Court on appeal, any potential remedy should have been explored in the lower court by any one of a number of procedures. Primarily, the appellant could have filed a motion for a new trial on the basis of newly discovered evidence pursuant to Utah Code Annotated, § 77-35-24 (1981 Supp.). If such a motion had been found to be inappropriate, appellant could have filed a petition for an extraordinary writ of error coram nobis under Rule 65B(i), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. Either of these alternative remedies would have placed the matter before the district court for decision and consequently preserved the issue for appeal to this Court. However, where the appellant has failed to utilize such remedies, the issue must be viewed as having been waived.

The appellant refers to the case of Walker v. State, No. 16705 (Utah, filed January 23, 1981) as supporting his position. In that case, the prosecutor was credited with the knowledge of evidence, exculpatory to the defendant, as

early as the second day of the trial; yet the prosecutor thereafter produced two witnesses who testified to that which was known to be incorrect. Thereafter, the prosecutor deliberately relied upon this incorrect testimony in his closing argument to the jury. In reaching its decision, this Court noted that the State's case against the defendant was based on circumstantial evidence which would have been contradicted by the new evidence brought to the attention of the prosecutor during the second day of trial. The present case bears no similarity to Walker. The prosecutor simply had no way of knowing before the actual decision of the Board that parole would have been granted. Moreover, the case against the appellant here was not circumstantial, particularly in view of appellant's admission to committing the crime. Simply stated, the prosecutor could not have knowingly fostered the false impression that Weaver had two more years to serve in prison since at the time the comment was made the statement was true.

This Court has addressed the issue of the propriety of comments in closing arguments to the jury in State v. Bautista, 30 Utah 2d 112, 514 P.2d 530 (1973). There the Court concluded that:

The prosecutor in summing up his case before the jury as well as defense counsel has wide discretion and is entitled to exercise considerable freedom in expressing to the jury his view of the evidence.

514 P.2d at 533. Correspondingly, any ruling made by the trial court on an objection interposed to a comment made during the closing argument can be disturbed only where it is shown that the trial court's discretion has been abused. People v. Alvarez, Colo., 530 P.2d 506, 507 (1975).

The appellant has failed at every turn to overcome his burden of proving an abuse of discretion on the part of the trial court. He asserts that the prosecutor created a false impression in the minds of the jurors when the comment which created this allegedly false impression was absolutely true. This Court simply cannot consider such groundless allegations of error since the entire issue has not been preserved for review.

POINT VI

IN VIEW OF THE TOTALITY OF THE
PROCEEDINGS IN THE TRIAL COURT, ANY
ALLEGED ERROR, OR THE CUMULATIVE EFFECT
OF SUCH ALLEGED ERRORS, WAS HARMLESS.

The appellant alleges that errors committed by the prosecutor continued throughout the trial, relying on his previous allegations of error. He asserts that the result of these alleged errors was a denial of his right to a fair trial. This Court has addressed the issue of fair trial under circumstances similar to the present case. In State v.

Hodges, 30 Utah 2d 367, 517 P.2d 1322 (1974), this Court was asked to evaluate the prejudicial effects of a question asked by the prosecutor of the defendant. Counsel for the defendant objected to the question and the trial court sustained the objection. On appeal, the defendant asserted that the error was so grievous as to be incurable, and deprived the defendant of a fair trial. The Court observed that:

Nevertheless, the processes of justice should not be distorted simply for the purpose of censuring a mistake. The critical inquiry should be whether there is a reasonable likelihood that the incident so prejudiced the jury that in its absence there might have been a different result.

517 P.2d at 1324. The Court noted further that the trial court, in ruling on a motion for a mistrial, should view such episodes in light of the total proceeding to determine whether there had been such prejudice as would deprive the defendant of an impartial determination of guilt. 517 P.2d at 1324. Here, in view of the totality of the proceedings in the trial court, the admission of guilt by the appellant, the tape-recorded telephone conversation confirming the appellant's initiation of the idea to commit the robbery, and the victim's identification of the appellant as one of the robbers, any alleged error must have been harmless.

Also, in Hodges, this Court noted that it was conceivable that reversible error could result from suggestion or innuendo, but declined to recognize such a situation since that recognition would eliminate the need or incentive for a trial court to rule correctly on objections. This case does not present the circumstance postulated by the Court in Hodges and therefore provides no reason for accepting appellant's allegations.

Important to note also is the fact that this Court in Hodges recognized that:

In the absence of the appearance of something persuasive to the contrary, we assume that the jurors were conscientious in performing to [sic] their duty, and that they followed the instructions of the court.

517 P.2d at 1324. The importance of this presumption in the present case lies in the fact that the trial court admonished the jury that the arguments of counsel were not evidence (T. 357). The court later instructed the jury on the admission of evidence and questions to which objections were sustained (R. 90). The court also instructed that the jury was the finder of fact and as such was the exclusive judge of the credibility of witnesses and weight of the evidence (R. 93-94). The court further instructed the jury that the fact that a witness had been convicted of a felony could be considered only in judging

the credibility of a witness and that such a conviction did not necessarily impair or destroy credibility (R. 96).

In view of the entire record of the trial below, if this Court observes any error, it must be disregarded. Rule 61 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure states:

No error in either the admission or the exclusion of evidence, and no error or defect in any ruling or order or in anything done or omitted by the court or by any of the parties, is ground for granting a new trial or otherwise disturbing a judgment or order, unless refusal to take such action appears to the court to be inconsistent with substantial justice. The court at every stage of the proceeding must disregard any error or defect in the proceeding which does not affect the substantial rights of the parties.

See also Rule 30, Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure.

In the present case, an analysis of the record of the proceedings of the court below fails to reveal any prejudicial error in the absence of which the result of the trial would have been different.

CONCLUSION

The appellant suffered no prejudice from any remark made by the prosecutor in either his opening statement or closing argument. In the case of the remark made by the prosecutor in his opening statement about the statement signed

by Weaver exculpating the appellant from criminal responsibility, the remark was proper as part of the outline of Weaver's testimony. On direct examination, Weaver did in fact testify to the incident. Moreover, since no contemporaneous objection was interposed by the appellant to the remark, the appellant has waived consideration of the issue on appeal.

Appellant's allegation that the trial court erroneously denied his motion to withdraw in order to be called as a witness, and to call the prosecutor as a defense witness, lacks the explanation that is supplied by the transcript of the proceedings. Where counsel's motion to withdraw was predicated upon his anticipated appearance as a witness, and counsel himself decided not to become a witness, the question was rendered moot by counsel's own decision. Moreover, there was no need for either defense counsel or the prosecutor to become witnesses where the opening remark lacked any implication of unethical conduct by defense counsel, and any evidence surrounding the signing of the statement could have been obtained from a number of other persons.

The reference by the prosecutor during his closing argument to the possibility of injury to the victim was proper in light of the offense charged, aggravated robbery. It is exactly the possibility of injury by use of a deadly weapon

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